
         

 

 

MONTECITO 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

BREVARD COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

& PUBLIC HEARING 
AUGUST 14, 2024 

9:30 A.M. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.montecitocdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 

 
AGENDA 

MONTECITO 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Montecito Beach Club 
208 Montecito Drive 

Satellite Beach, Florida 32937 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

ZOOM LINK: HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/3341025012 
CALL IN: (305) 224 1968 MEETING ID: 334 102 5012 

August 12, 2024 
9:30 A.M. 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………......................Page 1  

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

E. Comments From the Public Related to Agenda Items (Limited to 3 Minutes per Person) 

F. Approval of Consent Agenda 

1. July 10, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Minutes…………………………..................................................Page 2 

G. Landscape and Irrigation Report 

1. ProGreen…………………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 7 

2. Consider Ratification of Landscape Proposals……………………………………………………………Page 9 

H. Public Hearing – Amenity Center Rules 

1. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………….Page 13 

2. Receive Public Comments on Amending the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the 
Montecito Amenity Center 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-08 – Amending the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the 
Montecito Amenity Center………………………………………………………………………………..Page 15 

I. Public Hearing – Final Budget 

1. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………….Page 20 

2. Receive Public Comments on Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-09 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget…………………...Page 21 

J. Old Business 

1. Status of Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) Compliance  

2. Status of Parcel Conveyance – Final 11 Parcels from Montecito CDD Holdings…………………………Page 38 

3. Consider HOA Room Rental Agreement Proposal for HOA’s……………………………………………Page 39 

K. New Business 

1. Consider Approval District Management Agreement between the District and PFM Group 
Consulting LLC……………………………………………………………………………………………Page 47 

L. General Manager’s Report and Related Business Items 

1. General Manager’s Report…………………………………………………………………………………Page 58 

2. Homeowner Request 

3. Supervisor Request 

 

 



 

M. Administrative Maters 

1. Legal Report………………………………………………………………………………………………Page 59 

2. Engineer Report 

3. Managers’ Report 

a. Financials…………………………………………………………………………………………...Page 63 

N. Board Member Requests 

O. Comments From the Audience 

P. Announcement of Next Scheduled Board Meeting 

Q. Adjourn 



Publication Date
2024-07-25

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

Ad#10398437 7/25, 8/1/2024
NOTICE OF MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
PUBLIC HEARING AND REGULAR BOARD MEETING
The Board of Supervisors (the Board) of the Montecito Community Development District (District) will hold a
public hearing on August 14, 2024, at 9:30 a.m. at Montecito Beach Club located at 208 Montecito Drive,
Satellite Beach, Florida 32937 for the purpose of hearing comments and objections on the adoption of the
budget of the District for Fiscal Year 2024/2025 and the levying of the annual non-ad valorem special
assessments funding said budget. A regular board meeting of the District will also be held at that time where
the Board may consider agenda items and any other business that may properly come before it.
A copy of the agenda and budget may be obtained from the Districts website (www.montecitocdd.org) or at
the o�ces of the District Manager, Special District Services, Inc., located at 10807 SW Tradition Square, Port
St. Lucie, Florida 34987 during normal business hours.
The public hearing and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the
provisions of Florida law for community development districts. The public hearing and meeting may be
continued to a date, time, and place to be speci�ed on the record at the meeting. There may be occasions
when staff or Supervisors may participate by speaker telephone.
Any person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment
should contact the District O�ce at (772) 345-5119 at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. If you
are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-8770, for aid in
contacting the District O�ce.
Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at
the public hearings or meeting is advised that person will need a record of proceedings and that accordingly,
the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and
evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.
Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice.
District Manager

Page 1



Page 1 of 5 
 

MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
JULY 10, 2024 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The July 10, 2024, Regular Board Meeting of the Montecito Community Development District (the 
“District”) was called to order at 9:30 a.m. at 208 Montecito Drive, Satellite Beach, Florida 32937.  
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in Florida Today on September 29, 2023, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
Meeting Schedule, as legally required.  
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
A quorum was established with the following Supervisors in attendance: 
 
Catherine LeCesne, Ed Henson, Eric Smith, Rich Wellman, and Tanja Glynn.  
 
Also in attendance were District Manager Frank Sakuma of Special District Services, Inc.; District 
Manager Stephanie Brown of Special District Services, Inc; Attorney Michael Pawelczyk of Billing, 
Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A. (via Zoom); Engineer Stef Matthes of Culpepper & Terpening 
(via Zoom), and General Manager Tina Campbell of Vesta Property Services. 
 
Also present via Zoom was Mr. Clifford Repperger of Whitebird Law. 
 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 
Mr. Sakuma asked for the following items to be added to the agenda: 
 

- ProGreen Proposal #6778 
- ProGreen Proposal #6803 
- ProGreen Proposal #6804 
- ProGreen Proposal #6806 
- ProGreen Proposal #6845 

 
 
There were no further additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC RELATED TO AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Mark Nehiba offered an apology to Mr. Sakuma for the way the district management transition 
announcement was managed and expressed his gratitude to Mr. Sakuma for his professionalism. 
 
James Bordeau voiced his concern about the continuity of district services with switching vendors too 
frequently. 
 

Page 2



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
F.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

1. June 12, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Glynn, seconded by Mr. Smith, and passed unanimously to approve the 
June 12, 2024, Regular Board Meeting minutes, as presented. 
 
 
G.  LANDSCAPING AND IRRIGATION REPORTS 
 

1. ProGreen 
 
Mr. Sakuma announced the report was included in the Board package. Rusty Kahue from ProGreen was 
in the audience to answer questions from the Board. Mr. Kahue provided a grass history report and 
discussed alternative landscaping options for Montecito common areas (Zoysia grass and eco turf) that 
would be more drought tolerant. He also notified the Board that he would be giving a Florida Friendly 
presentation and providing proposals for Zoysia and eco turf at the August 14, 2024, Board Meeting. 
 
The Board considered the following items: 
 

- ProGreen Proposal #6778 
- ProGreen Proposal #6803 
- ProGreen Proposal #6804 
- ProGreen Proposal #6806 
- ProGreen Proposal #6845 

 
After Board discussion, Mr. Henson made a motion, seconded by Mr. Wellman, and passed unanimously 
approving ProGreen Proposals #6778 Irrigation Repair ($1,000) , Irrigation Repair #6803 ($1,664.72), 
Irrigation Repair #6804 ($1,912.50), Irrigation Repair #6845 ($1,818.32) and Florida Friendly common 
area enhancement #6806 ($1,800). 
 
H.  OLD BUSINESS 
 

1. Status of Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) Compliance  
 
District Engineer Stef Mathes provided the Board with an update on the CUP compliance. He stated that 
the well usage reporting is current. Mr. Mathes also notified the Board that the chloride reporting still 
has not been completed, but Ms. Campbell is in the process of researching vendors to complete the 
testing.  
 

2. Status of Parcel Conveyances-Final 11 Parcels from Montecito CDD Holdings 
 
District Counsel Micheal Pawelczyk stated that the District was ready to close on the parcels and was 
still awaiting legal review from Montecito CDD Holdings. 
 
After Board discussion, the was a consensus to direct the District Manager to send an email to Montecito 
CDD Holdings requesting attorney information to expedite the completion of the conveyance.  
 

Page 3



Page 3 of 5 
 

3. Status of HOA Room Rental Agreement 
 
Mr. Sakuma is still waiting on a response from HOA on the draft rental agreement and will follow up 
again for a status update. 
 
I. NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Discussion Regarding Revised Stormwater Acknowledgement and Agreement 
 
Mr. Pawelczyk gave an explanation of the purpose of the Stormwater Acknowledgement Agreement and 
advised that updating the agreement to reflect the current Parcel 3 owners will make invoicing more 
efficient.  
 
Mr. Pawelczyk recommended the following changes to the agreement 

- Bolding of the official records book/page (pg. 1) 
- PFM Management company’s address listed on the agreement for notices 

 
After Board discussion, Ms. Glynn made a motion, seconded by Mr. Smith, and passed unanimously 
approving the revised Stormwater Acknowledgement and Agreement in substantial final form, amending 
the notice address to PFM Group Consulting, and pending verification of any possible outstanding 
monies owed. 
 

2. Consider Ratification of Pool Service Amendment 
 
Mr. Wellman voiced his concern regarding the pool not being properly maintained and suggested 
contracting a new vendor for services. Ms. Campbell responded that it is difficult to get a pool vendors 
during the peak season, but that she would move forward with requesting proposals once the summer 
season ends. 
 
After Board discussion, Mr. Smith made a motion, seconded by Ms. LeCesne, and passed unanimously 
approving ratification of the Brevard Pools Service Agreement.  
 

3. Consider Approval of Fountain Replacement Quote 
 
Ms. Campbell presented the fountain quote from Solitude and stated that the current fountain is not able 
to be repaired and will require replacement. 
 
After Board discussion, there was a consensus to table this item pending an updated proposal from 
Solitude and two additional proposals. 
 

4. Review, Discuss and Approval of PFM DM Agreement 
 
Mr. Wellman notified staff that he did not receive a copy of the PFM agreement. Mr. Sakuma responded 
that it was sent via email, and he would verify that it had been sent. 
 
Mr. Wellman asked the Board for the reasoning behind transitioning to a new District management 
company. Mr. Sakuma stated that he would provide Mr. Wellman with the audio recording of the June 
12, 2024, Board Meeting. Ms. LeCesne responded with the concerns she had on the lack of 
communication and clear understanding on the delegation of duties and CDD objectives. Mr. Wellman 

Page 4



Page 4 of 5 
 

asked if Mr. Sakuma was provided with an evaluation or feedback. Ms. LeCesne responded that an 
evaluation was not performed but she provided Mr. Sakuma with feedback. 
 
After Board discussion, Mr. Pawelczyk recommended all board members submit any PFM agreement 
changes or questions to him, and he will work with PFM legal counsel and bring the revised document 
back to the Board for consideration on the August 14, 2024, Board Meeting. 
 
Ms. LeCesne asked staff to provide the Board with the CIP budget Excel file. Mr. Sakuma responded 
that we would send the file via email. 
 
 
J GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT AND RELATED BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

1. General Manager’s Report 
 
The General Manager’s Report was provided by Ms. Campbell, who was present to answer any 
questions. Mr. Henson stated that the beach access pedestrian gate does not close. Ms. Glynn suggested 
a hydraulic arm and Mr. Wellman suggested changing the henge. Ms. Campbell responded that she is 
aware and has a vendor coming out for gate inspections. 
 
Consensus of the Board to direct staff to get quotes for clubhouse chair replacements. 
 

2. Homeowner Requests  
 
Betsy stated that Progreen did a good job on the project for placing the stones along the fence on Carlsbad 
but would like the rocks to go all the way down to where Carlsbad meets Redondo. She also voiced her 
concern about the for-sale signs posted on the property owned by Hunt Properties. Ms. LeCesne asked 
for a recommendation from Mr. Pawelczyk. Mr. Pawelczyk reiterated that Montecito CDD does not have 
any authority in regard to Hunt Properties and if any residents have concerns to contact the city of 
Satellite Beach Code Enforcement Department. He stated that signs can be removed if they are on CDD 
but not without an agreement in place. 
 

3. Supervisor Requests 
 
There were no supervisor requests. 
 
K. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Legal Report 

Mr. Pawelczyk stated that he would provide a legislative update memo in the agenda package for the 
August 14, 2024, Board Meeting and send it to the Board via email as well. 
 

2. Engineer Report 

There was no engineer report. 
 

3. Manager Report 

a. Financials 

Page 5



Page 5 of 5 
 

Mr. Sakuma advised that the financial report was included in the Board package and answered several 
questions from the Board.  
 
Mr. Sakuma reminded the Board of the four hours of required ethics training to be completed by 
December 31, 2024. 
 
L. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further comments from the Board. 
 
M. COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
 
James Bordeau (Townhome HOA President) stated that the draft HOA rental agreement is with their 
legal counsel for review. He also voiced his concern about the aesthetics of the rocks being shifted in the 
lakes and asked if they could be returned to their original positions with signs that state not to throw/touch 
the rocks. Mr. Bordeau appreciated the poster board enclosure but suggested a larger size. Ms. Campbell 
responded that larger poster boards are in the process of being installed. Ms. Glynn and Ms. LeCesne 
suggested placing a whiteboard in the enclosure. Consensus of the Board for staff to place a whiteboard 
in the enclosure. 
 
N. ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING 
 
Mr. Sakuma announced that the next scheduled meeting was August 14, 2024, at 9:30 a.m. 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Ms. LeCesne made a motion, seconded by 
Ms. Glynn, adjourning the meeting at 1:12 p.m. The meeting adjourned without objection. 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 ________________________________   _________________________________ 
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson/Vice-Chair 

Page 6



Page 7



•
•
•

Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



1 

RESOLUTION 2024-08 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT AMENDING THE ADOPTED RULES, 
POLICIES, AND FEES FOR THE MONTECITO AMENITY 
CENTER TO AMEND THE FISHING AND LAKE POLICY 
TO LIMIT FISHING TO HOOK AND LINE, ROD AND 
REEL, OR HANDLINE ONLY; TO AMEND THE USE OF 
PROPERTY PARAGRAPHS (3)i AND (3)h TO PROVIDE 
THAT THE COMPLETED AND APPROVED REQUEST 
FORM FOR CONDITIONAL TEMPORARY ACCESS 
OVER DISTRICT PROPERTY FOR LIMITED PURPOSES 
SHALL BE EXECUTED BY THE DISTRICT MANAGER 
OF THE DISTRICT; PROVIDING DIRECTION TO 
DISTRICT COUNSEL AND THE DISTRICT MANAGER; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Montecito Community Development District (hereinafter the "District") 
is a local unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, 
Florida Statutes, being situated in the City of Satellite Beach, Brevard County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District owns, operates, an maintains certain lands and recreational 
amenity facilities within the boundaries of the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, on January 19, 2015, pursuant to Resolution 2015-05 the District Board of 
Supervisors approved the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the Montecito Amenity Center, 
which Rules were subsequently amended pursuant to Resolutions 2019-01, 2024-02, 2024-03, 
and 2024-05 (collectively, the “Rules”), which Rules pertain and govern the use of the District’s 
lands and recreational facilities; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 120.54, 120.81, 190.011(5), and 190.035(2), Florida 
Statutes, the District is authorized to adopt and modify rules prescribing the conduct of the 
business of the District, the operation and maintenance of the District lands and facilities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Board desires to amend the section of the Rules entitled, 
“FISHING AND LAKE POLICY” to limit fishing in the District’s lakes to fishing hook and line, 
rod and reel, or handline only, while prohibiting any use of all nets, other than landing nets, in 
the District lakes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Board desires to amend the section of the Rules entitled, “USE 
OF DISTRICT PROPERTY” to provide that the completed and approved Request Form for 

Page 15



 2

temporary access over District property for limited purposes shall be executed by the District 
Manager of the District; and  

 
WHEREAS, the District advertised a public hearing for _________________, 2024, in 

order to hear and receive comments on the proposed changes and additions to the Rules pursuant 
to the requirements of Chapter 120, Florida Statutes; and  

 
WHEREAS, after the duly advertised public hearing held on ______________, 2024 the 

District Board of Supervisors has determined that it is in the best interests of the District and the 
residents of and visitors to the District to adopt the amendments, changes, revisions, additions 
and deletions to the Rules as provided herein, and to incorporate the same into an updated 
version of the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the Montecito Amenity Center. 

  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated in and adopted 
as part of this Resolution. 

 
Section 2.  The section of the Rules, entitled “FISHING AND LAKE POLICY,” is 

amended, as follows: 
 

FISHING AND LAKE POLICY 
 

Patrons and Guests sixteen (16) years of age and older are permitted to fish in the 
lakes/retention ponds within the District through the use of hook and line, rod and 
reel or handline only.  With the exception of landing nets, the use of any other 
nets, including, but not limited to, cast nets and bait nets, is strictly prohibited.  
Anyone under sixteen (16) years of age must be accompanied by a Patron when 
fishing. Patrons and Guests fishing in these bodies of water shall remove and 
properly dispose of all garbage, fishing line, hooks and all other 
materials/supplies. The District requests that everyone respect their fellow 
neighbors/property owners and access the lakes/retention ponds through the 
proper access points.  
 
The District has a catch and release policy for all fish and any other aquatic 
wildlife caught in the lakes/retention ponds, requiring that any fish or other 
aquatic wildlife caught immediately be returned to the District’s lake/retention 
ponds from where it was caught. The purpose of the lakes/retention ponds is to 
help facilitate the District’s natural water system for runoff and overflow. Anyone 
who violates this provision does so at their own risk. 
 
 
 

Page 16



 3

Section 3.  Paragraphs (3)h and (3)i of the section of the Rules, entitled “USE OF 
DISTRICT PROPERTY,” is amended, as follows: 
 
 

USE OF DISTRICT PROPERTY   
 

… 
 

h. The Ingress/Egress Area shall be no more than ten (10’) wide, unless 
otherwise specified as a special condition by the General Manager or the 
District Manager on the approved Request Form; and  
 
 

i. The permission to use the Ingress/Egress Area for purposes of access, 
ingress and egress is limited to one hundred eighty (180) days from the 
date the General Manager Request Form is executed by the District 
Manager of the District executes the Request Form; and 
 
… 

 
  

Section 4. Temporary Access Request Form and Agreement.  Upon the adoption of 
this Resolution the District Manager and the General Manager shall make available and shall 
utilize the revised Temporary Access Request Form and Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 
“A”. 

 
Section 5. Direction to District Counsel.  District Counsel is directed to incorporate 

the amendments, changes, revisions, additions and deletions provided herein to create an updated 
version of the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the Montecito Amenity Center, and to 
circulate the same to the District Manager. 

 
Section 6. Direction to District Manager.  The District Manager is hereby directed to 

take all actions consistent with this Resolution.  The District Manager shall include this adopted 
Resolution as part of the Official Records of Proceeding of the District, distribute the Rules as 
appropriate to affected parties and in accordance with Chapters 120 and 190, Florida Statutes, 
and post the Rules, as updated pursuant to this Resolution, on the District’s website. 

 
Section 7. Conflicts.  All motions, resolutions or parts of motions or resolutions in 

conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   
 
 Section 8. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this 
Resolution shall continue in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared 
that the remainder of this Resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or 
ineffectiveness of such section, paragraph, clause or provision. 
 
 

Page 17



 4

 
 
 
 
 

Section 9. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption. 

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED in Public Session of the Board of Supervisors of the 

Montecito Community Development District, this 14th day of August, 2024 (the “Effective 
Date”). 

      MONTECITO COMMUNITY 
Attest:      DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 

 
              
Frank Sakuma, Secretary   Catherine LeCesne, Chairperson 
      Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 18



 5

Exhibit “A” 
 

Temporary Access Request Form and Agreement 

Page 19



Publication Date
2024-07-25

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

Ad#10398437 7/25, 8/1/2024
NOTICE OF MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
PUBLIC HEARING AND REGULAR BOARD MEETING
The Board of Supervisors (the Board) of the Montecito Community Development District (District) will hold a
public hearing on August 14, 2024, at 9:30 a.m. at Montecito Beach Club located at 208 Montecito Drive,
Satellite Beach, Florida 32937 for the purpose of hearing comments and objections on the adoption of the
budget of the District for Fiscal Year 2024/2025 and the levying of the annual non-ad valorem special
assessments funding said budget. A regular board meeting of the District will also be held at that time where
the Board may consider agenda items and any other business that may properly come before it.
A copy of the agenda and budget may be obtained from the Districts website (www.montecitocdd.org) or at
the o�ces of the District Manager, Special District Services, Inc., located at 10807 SW Tradition Square, Port
St. Lucie, Florida 34987 during normal business hours.
The public hearing and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the
provisions of Florida law for community development districts. The public hearing and meeting may be
continued to a date, time, and place to be speci�ed on the record at the meeting. There may be occasions
when staff or Supervisors may participate by speaker telephone.
Any person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment
should contact the District O�ce at (772) 345-5119 at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. If you
are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-8770, for aid in
contacting the District O�ce.
Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at
the public hearings or meeting is advised that person will need a record of proceedings and that accordingly,
the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and
evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.
Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice.
District Manager

Page 20



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-09 
 

      A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPROVING AND ADOPTING A FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 FINAL 
BUDGET PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 

            WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Montecito Community 
Development District (“District”) has prepared a Proposed Operating Fund Budget for Fiscal 
Year 2024/2025, and the Board is empowered to provide a funding source to operate the District 
and to impose special assessments upon the properties within the District, as required; and 

 
            WHEREAS, the District has held a duly advertised Public Hearing to receive public 
comments on the Proposed Operating Fund Budget, has considered and adopted the Fiscal Year 
2024/2025 Operating Fund Budget; and is now authorized to levy non-ad valorem assessments 
upon the assessable properties within the District. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE MONTECITO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT:  
 

                Section 1. The Operating Fund Budget for Fiscal Year 2024/2025 attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” is accepted, approved and adopted. 
 
 Section 2. The Secretary and/or Assistant Secretary of the District is authorized to 
execute any and all necessary transmittals, certifications or other acknowledgements or writings, 
as necessary, to comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
  

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 14th day of August, 2024. 
 

 
ATTEST: MONTECITO COMMUNITY 
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
              Secretary/Assistant Secretary                                 Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 
 

Page 21



Montecito
Community Development District

Final Budget For
Fiscal Year 2024/2025

October 1, 2024 - September 30, 2025

Page 22



Page 23



ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENTS

MAINTENANCE ASSESSMENTS

DEBT ASSESSMENTS (2022)

ASSESSMENTS - DIRECT BILLED

INTEREST INCOME

STORMWATER CONTROL COST SHARE

GATE & AMENITY ACCESS INCOME

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME

CARRYFORWARD SURPLUS

SUPERVISOR FEES

DISTRICT ENGINEER

LEGAL FEES

DISTRICT MANAGEMENT

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE FEE

ASSESSMENT ROLL

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

WEBSITE MAINTENANCE

AUDITING SERVICES

Page 24



ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION

TRUSTEE FEES 

PUBLIC OFFICIALS/GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

LEGAL ADVERTISING

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS

PROPERTY APPRAISER EXPENDITURE

REIMBURSABLE EXPENDITURES

CONTINGENCY/MISCELLANEOUS

AMENITY AND FIELD MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

PROPERTY INSURANCE

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE (NON-HVAC)

HVAC REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

OFFICE SUPPLIES

JANITORIAL SUPPLIES

JANITORIAL SERVICES

PEST CONTROL & TERMITE BOND

FITNESS EQUIPMENT REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

PLAYGROUND REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

POOL SERVICE REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

Page 25



AMENITY TELEPHONE

IRRIGATION REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

IRRIGATION MONITORING

HOOVER PUMPS REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

AQUATIC MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS

FOUNTAIN SERVICE REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

LANDSCAPING CONTRACTED SERVICES

ADDITIONAL LANDSCAPING REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

ENTRANCE/AMENITY PLANT REPLACEMENT

MULCH

PALM TREE MAINTENANCE

OAK TREE MAINTENANCE

STREET LIGHT REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

ENTRANCE VEHICULAR GATES REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

PEDESTRIAN ENTRY GATES & WALLS MAINTENANCE

COMMON AREA REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

SIDEWALK CLEANING

FIRE DETECTION SERVICES

ACCESS CONTROL SERVICES

Page 26



INTRUSION SERVICES

SECURITY MONITORING REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

ELECTRIC SERVICES

TELEPHONE, FAX & INTERNET

WATER & SEWER SERVICES

GATE KIOSK INTERNET SERVICES

CONTINGENCY/MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURES

TOWNHOME MAILBOXES MAINTENANCE

CAPITAL RESERVE TRANSFER OUT

DISASTER RESERVE TRANSFER OUT

ROADWAY RESERVE TRANSFER OUT 

Page 27



Page 28



FIELD MANAGEMENT SUBTOTAL 

AMENITY CENTER OPERATIONS SUBTOTAL

IRRIGATION SUBTOTAL

STORMWATER CONTROL SUBTOTAL

LANDSCAPING SUBTOTAL

Page 29



COMMONS AREAS, RIGHT OF WAYS & PERIM. WALLS SUBTOTAL

SECURITY MONITORING SERVICES SUBTOTAL

UTILITIES SUBTOTAL

OTHER SUBTOTAL

EXRAORDINARY EXPENDITURES SUBTOTAL

Page 30



Page 31



FIELD MANAGEMENT SUBTOTAL 

AMENITY CENTER OPERATIONS SUBTOTAL

IRRIGATION SUBTOTAL

STORMWATER CONTROL SUBTOTAL

LANDSCAPING SUBTOTAL

Page 32



COMMONS AREAS, RIGHT OF WAYS & PERIM. WALLS SUBTOTA

SECURITY MONITORING SERVICES SUBTOTAL

UTILITIES SUBTOTAL

OTHER SUBTOTAL

EXRAORDINARY EXPENDITURES SUBTOTAL

Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Board of Supervisors, Montecito Community Development District; Frank Sakuma, 
District Manager; Stef Mathis, District Engineer 

 
FROM:  Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A. 
 
DATE:   August 6, 2024 
 
RE: Montecito CDD Holdings, Inc. [the SPE] conveyance to Montecito CDD 
 

 
This Memorandum brie y describes certain ma ers a ec ng the 11 Parcels in Phase 2C (“Property”) that are the 
subject of the conveyance from Montecito CDD Holdings, Inc. (“SPE”) to the Montecito Community Development 
District (“CDD”) (“Conveyance”).    
 

IMPROVEMENTS:  Pursuant to Sec on 6 of the Tri-Party Agreement between the CDD, the SPE, and UMB Bank, 
N.A., “the por on of the Improvements being conveyed shall be in good condi on, reasonably free from defects, 
as determined by the District’s Engineer.”  As previously men oned, issues regarding the Improvements will 
need to be addressed prior to the Conveyance as once the Conveyance is complete the District “shall have been 
deemed to have accepted the Improvements in an ‘as is’ condi on and no warranty, either express or implied…”  
At this me, the District Engineer has advised that there are no issues regarding the Improvements that are the 
subject of this Conveyance, however please advise immediately should any addi onal ma er arise that would 
need to be addressed prior to the Conveyance. 
 

PERMITS:  As the SPE will dissolve a er the Conveyance, all necessary permi ng and ma ers with SJRWMD 
should be resolved prior to the dissolu on of the SPE.  The District Engineer is reques ng (1) con rma on of the 
Final Cer ca on for Phase 2C; and (2) the le er from SJRWMD transferring the opera ons and maintenance for 
Phase 2C to the CDD.  The SPE has not been able to locate these documents to date and has requested that its 
engineer, Allen Engineering, research this ma er.  
 

REVERTER:  A Declara on of Land Use Restric ve Covenants and Use Agreement (Military Housing Project) 
(“Declara on”) appeared of record on the Property.  The Declara on includes reverter language that provides 
that the property therein shall “revert back” to the United States of America if there is a viola on of the 
Declara on.  Although a Par al Release of the Declara on was subsequently recorded a ec ng certain property, 
the District Engineer advised that he did not believe that said Par al Release released the Property that is the 
subject of this Conveyance.  The Declara on is available for your review and informa on at O.R. Book 5074, Page 
2378 of the Public Records of Brevard County, Florida.   
 

INTALLATION RESTORATION PROGRAM (“IRP”):  There is a reserva on in the Quitclaim Deed for the USA, 
including the U.S. Environmental Protec on Agency, and the State of Florida regarding an Installa on Restora on 
Program (“IRP”) that appears may a ect the property.  Please keep in mind these reserva ons may subject the 
Property to inves ga ons, inspec ons, tes ng, and any other ac ons under the IRP.  The full details are available 
for your review and informa on at O.R. Book 5074, Page 2361 of the Public Records of Brevard County, Florida.    

DRIVEWAY ENCROACHMENTS:  As men oned at prior mee ngs of the Board of Supervisors, there are certain 
driveways encroaching into the Property that is the subject of this Conveyance.  Subsequent to the Conveyance, 
the District can approach the Owners of the encroaching driveways regarding a suitable encroachment 
agreement. 

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



4

Page 46



Rev. 09.05.23 1 

 
DISTRICT MANAGEMENT 

 
 This District Management Agreement (this “Agreement”), made and entered into this 1st 
day of October 2024 (the “Effective Date”) by and between Montecito Community Development 
District (“DISTRICT”) and PFM Group Consulting LLC (hereinafter called the “MANAGER”) 
sets forth the terms and conditions under which MANAGER shall provide services. 
 

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT desires to obtain the services of a MANAGER to provide 
District Management Services; and 

WHEREAS, MANAGER is capable of providing the necessary services. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above mentioned premises and intending to 
be legally bound hereby, the DISTRICT and MANAGER agree as follows: 
 
 I. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

 MANAGER shall provide District Management Services as set forth in Exhibit A to 
this Agreement. Any material changes in or additions to the scope of services described in Exhibit 
A shall be promptly reflected in a written supplement or amendment to this Agreement.  Services 
provided by MANAGER which are not specifically referenced in the scope of services set forth in 
Exhibit A of this Agreement shall be completed as agreed in writing in advance between the 
DISTRICT and MANAGER.  Upon request of DISTRICT, MANAGER or an affiliate of MANAGER 
may agree to additional services to be provided by MANAGER or an affiliate of MANAGER, by a 
separate agreement between the DISTRICT and MANAGER or its respective affiliate.   

 II. WORK SCHEDULE 
 
 The services of MANAGER are to commence as soon as practicable after the execution 
of this Agreement and a request by the DISTRICT for such service. 
 
 III. COMPENSATION 
 
 For the services provided under this Agreement, MANAGER’s professional fees shall be 
paid as provided in Exhibit B to this Agreement and DISTRICT shall pay expenses and fees for 
other services not set forth in Exhibit A as provided below.  

 

1. Reimbursable Expenses 

In addition to fees for services, MANAGER will be reimbursed for necessary, reasonable, 
and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred, including travel, meals, lodging, telephone, 
mail, and other ordinary cost and any actual extraordinary cost for graphics, printing, data 
processing and computer time which are incurred by MANAGER only as authorized by the 
DISTRICT’s approved budget.  Documentation of such expenses will be provided to the 
DISTRICT upon request. 

 

 

Page 47



Rev. 09.05.23 2 

2. Other Services 

Any services which are not included in the scope of services set forth in Exhibit A of this 
Agreement will be subject to separate, mutually acceptable fee structures. 

 IV. TERM AND TERMINATION 
 
This Agreement shall be effective from the Effective Date and shall continue until terminated by 
either party as provided herein.  The DISTRICT has the right to terminate this Agreement for 
“good cause” which shall include misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance or dereliction of duties 
by the MANAGER which, in each case, the MANAGER fails to cure within 10 days of notice 
thereof.  Termination for “good cause” shall be effected immediately by provision of written notice 
to MANAGER.  Either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, at any time 
and for any reason whatsoever, upon (i) the DISTRICT providing to the MANAGER a minimum 
of thirty (30) days advance written notice of its intention to terminate or (ii) the MANAGER 
providing to the DISTRICT a minimum of sixty (60) days advance written notice of its intention to 
terminate.  All notices shall be mailed to the person and address specified for use in the giving of 
notice, in paragraph 10, hereof.  Should the relationship be terminated, MANAGER will be paid 
for all services performed and costs and expenses incurred up to the termination date.   
 
 V. ASSIGNMENT 
 

Neither party may assign this Agreement or its rights or obligations hereunder without the 
prior written consent of the other; provided, however, that MANAGER may, upon notice to the 
DISTRICT, assign MANAGER’s rights and obligations under this Agreement to any subsidiary or 
affiliate of MANAGER or a successor of MANAGER in connection with the sale of all or 
substantially all of MANAGER's assets. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall be binding 
on the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  

VI. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION, REPORTS, AND DATA 

All information, data, reports, and records in the possession of the DISTRICT or any third 
party necessary for carrying out any services to be performed under this Agreement (“Data”) shall 
be furnished to MANAGER. DISTRICT may rely on the Data in connection with its provision of 
the services under this Agreement and the provider thereof shall remain solely responsible for the 
adequacy, accuracy or completeness of such Data.  

 VII. NOTICES 
 
 All notices given under this Agreement shall be in writing, sent by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, or by nationally recognized courier, with written verification of receipt. Notices 
shall be addressed to the party for whom it is intended, at the designated addresses below.  The 
parties designate the following as the respective places for giving notice, to-wit:  
 

DISTRICT: 
Montecito Community Development District 
3501 Quadrangle Blvd., Suite 270 
Orlando, FL 32817 
Attention:  District Manager 
 
 
 

Page 48



Rev. 09.05.23 3 

With A Copy To: 
Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A. 
515 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 600 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Attention: District Counsel 
Michael J. Pawelczyk, Esq. 
 
 
MANAGER: 
PFM Group Consulting LLC   
3501 Quadrangle Blvd., Suite 270 
Orlando, FL 32817 
Attention: Jennifer Walden 

 
 VIII. TITLE TRANSFER 
 
 All materials, except functioning or dynamic financial models, prepared by MANAGER 
pursuant exclusively to this Agreement shall be the property of the DISTRICT.  Subject to the 
foregoing exception, upon termination of this Agreement, at DISTRICT’s reasonable request no 
later than three (3) years after the termination of this Agreement MANAGER shall deliver to the 
DISTRICT copies of any and all materials or documents prepared, kept or maintained in 
accordance with this Agreement. 
 
 IX. MANAGER’S REPRESENTATIVES 
 
 1. Assignment of Named Individuals 
 
 The services set forth in this Agreement shall be provided by professional employees of 
MANAGER or affiliates of MANAGER in its sole discretion. The MANAGER may, from time to 
time, supplement or otherwise amend the team members set forth below. 
 

• Venessa Ripoll, District Manager 
• Vivian Carvalho, Senior District Manager 

 
 2. Changes in Staff Requested by the DISTRICT 
 
 The DISTRICT has the right to request, for any reason, MANAGER to replace any member 
of the MANAGER staff. Should the DISTRICT make such a request, MANAGER shall promptly 
suggest a substitute for approval by the DISTRICT. 
 
 
 X. INSURANCE 
 
 MANAGER shall maintain insurance coverage with policy limits not less than as stated in 
Exhibit C. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



Rev. 09.05.23 4 

 
XI. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
1. MANAGER Not to Participate as Underwriter 

 
 The MANAGER is precluded from being an underwriter of any debt obligations issued by 
the DISTRICT and shall not participate, in any manner, in the initial offering for the issuance of 
any of the DISTRICT's debt obligations. 
 
2. Limitation of Liability; Indemnification 
 
 To the extent not referenced herein, MANAGER shall not be responsible for the acts or 
omissions of any other contractor or any of its subcontractors, suppliers, or of any other individual 
or entity performing services which are not under the control or supervision of the MANAGER.  
 
 DISTRICT INDEMNIFICATION. To the extent allowable under applicable law (and only to 
the extent of the limitations of liability set forth in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes), and except 
and to the extent caused by the negligence or reckless and/or willful misconduct of the 
MANAGER, the DISTRICT agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the MANAGER and 
its officers, supervisors, staff, and employees from and against any and all liability, claims, actions, 
suits, demands, assessments or judgments asserted and any and all losses, liabilities, damages, 
costs, court costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, that MANAGER may hereafter incur, 
become responsible for, or be caused to pay out arising out of or relating to the negligent or 
intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of the DISTRICT. The indemnification provided for herein 
shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which the MANAGER may be entitled and 
shall continue after the MANAGER has ceased to be engaged under this Agreement. 

 
 MANAGER INDEMNIFICATION. The MANAGER agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the DISTRICT and its officers, supervisors, staff, and employees from and against any 
and all liability, claims, actions, suits, demands, assessments or judgments asserted and any and 
all losses, liabilities, damages, costs, court costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, that 
the DISTRICT may hereafter incur, become responsible for, or be caused to pay out arising out 
of or relating to the failure to perform under this Agreement or at law, or negligent, reckless, and/or 
intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of the MANAGER. The indemnification provided for herein 
shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which the DISTRICT may be entitled and 
shall continue after the MANAGER has ceased to be engaged under this Agreement. 
 
 SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY; INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS. Nothing herein shall be 
construed to waive or limit the DISTRICT’S sovereign immunity limitations of liability as provided 
in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other applicable law. Indemnification obligations under this 
Agreement shall include the payment of all settlements, judgments, damages, liquidated 
damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, 
litigation expenses, attorney fees, and paralegal fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, 
or in bankruptcy proceedings) as ordered. 
 
3. Disclaimer of MANAGER 
 
 The DISTRICT acknowledges that the MANAGER is not an attorney and may not render 
legal advice or opinions.  Although the MANAGER may participate in accumulating information 
necessary for documents required by the DISTRICT to finalize any particular financing, such 
information shall be verified by the DISTRICT as to its correctness; provided, however, that the 
DISTRICT shall not be required to verify the correctness of any information originated by the 

Page 50



Rev. 09.05.23 5 

MANAGER or the correctness of any information originated by the MANAGER which the 
MANAGER has used to formulate its opinions and advice given to the DISTRICT. 
 
4. Attorney Fees and Governing Law 
 
MANAGER and the DISTRICT agree that, should a disagreement arise as to the terms or 
enforcement of any provision of this Agreement, each party will in good faith attempt to resolve 
said disagreement prior to pursuing other action.  This Agreement shall be construed, enforced, 
and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida.  In the event either party is 
required to take any action to enforce this Agreement, the substantially prevailing party shall be 
entitled to attorney’s fees and costs, including fees and costs incurred in determining entitlement 
to and reasonableness of such fees and costs.   
 
5. Time of the Essence 
 
The DISTRICT and the MANAGER agree that time is of the essence and that the services of the 
MANAGER shall be performed expeditiously. 
 
6. Entire Agreement 
 
This Agreement represents the entire agreement between DISTRICT and MANAGER for District 
Management Services contemplated hereby and supersedes all prior agreements, contracts, 
arrangements, or communications between the parties with respect to the subject matter 
addressed herein, whether oral or written.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified 
except in writing signed by both parties.  For the sake of clarity, any separate agreement between 
DISTRICT and MANAGER or any affiliate of MANAGER shall not in any way be deemed an 
amendment or modification of this Agreement. The invalidity in whole or in part of any provision 
of this Agreement shall not void or affect the validity of any other provision.   
  
7. Authority to Execute and Counterparts 
 
Each party to this Agreement represents, warrants, and covenants to the other that the person or 
persons signing this Agreement on behalf of such party is authorized and empowered to sign and 
deliver this Agreement for such party, that such party has the lawful authority to enter into this 
relationship, and that the governing or managing body of each party has approved this 
relationship and has similarly authorized the execution of this Agreement.  This Agreement may 
be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which when 
taken together shall constitute one and the same document. 
 
8. Public Records Disclosure 
 
MANAGER understands and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the DISTRICT in 
connection with this Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, MANAGER agrees to 
comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not 
limited to Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes. Consultant acknowledges that the designated public 
records custodian for the DISTRICT is PFM Group Consulting LLC (“Public Records Custodian”).  
Among other requirements and to the extent applicable by law, the MANAGER shall 1) keep and 
maintain public records required by the DISTRICT to perform the service; 2) upon request by the 
Public Records Custodian, provide the DISTRICT with the requested public records or allow the 
records to be inspected or copied within a  reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed 
the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt 
or confidential, and exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except 
as authorized by law for the duration of the Agreement term and following the Agreement term if 
the MANAGER does not transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of the DISTRICT; 

Page 51



Rev. 09.05.23 6 

and 4) upon completion of the Agreement, transfer to the DISTRICT, at no cost, all  public records 
in MANAGER’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all applicable  requirements 
for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When such public records are transferred 
by the MANAGER, the MANAGER shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or 
confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.  All records stored 
electronically must be provided to the DISTRICT in a format that is compatible with Microsoft 
Word or Adobe PDF formats.   
 

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
THE CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE 
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT (407) 723-5900, 
RECORDREQUEST@PFM.COM, OR 3501 QUADRANGLE 
BLVD., SUITE 270, ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32817. 

 
9. Independent Contractor 

 
MANAGER, its employees, officers and representatives at all times shall be independent 
contractors and shall not be deemed to be employees, agents, partners, servants and/or joint 
venturers of DISTRICT by virtue of this Agreement or any actions or services rendered under this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any person, other 
than the Parties hereto, their successors and permitted assigns, any legal or equitable rights, 
remedy or claim under or in respect of this Agreement or any provisions contained herein.  In no 
event will MANAGER be liable for any act or omission of any third party or for any circumstances 
beyond MANAGER’s reasonable control including, but not limited to, fire, flood, or other natural 
disaster, war, riot, strike, act of terrorism, act of civil or military authority, software and/or 
equipment failure, computer virus, or failure or interruption of electrical, telecommunications or 
other utility services. 

 
In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, in duplicate, as of 

the Effective Date above written. 
 

  
 Montecito Community Development District 

 
 Sign:        
 Print Name:       
 Title: ______________________________ 
 
  
 
 PFM Group Consulting LLC   
 
  
 __________________________________ 
 Jennifer Walden, Senior District Manager 
  
 

Page 52



Rev. 09.05.23 7 

  

Page 53



Rev. 09.05.23 8 

EXHIBIT A 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 
I. General Management Services 
 

General Consultation, Meetings, and DISTRICT Representation 
 
 The Manager shall organize the DISTRICT meetings.  This includes, but is not limited to, 
providing the agenda and Board packages, scheduling, notification, publication and related 
matters.  The service to be provided shall also include, but not be limited to planning, scheduling, 
production and quality control, contract administration, coordination, and administration of various 
professional service elements. 
 

The manager shall prepare and submit to the DISTRICT’s Board of Supervisors a 
proposed annual budget and administer the adopted budget of the DISTRICT. 
 
 As the DISTRICT’s Manager, we will consult with the DISTRICT Board of Supervisors and 
its designated representatives, and when necessary, participate in such meetings, discussions, 
project site visits, workshops, and hearings as may pertain to the administration, accomplishment 
and fulfillment of the professional services with regard to the projects and general interest of the 
DISTRICT. 
 

The Manager shall consult with and advise the DISTRICT on matters related to the 
operation and maintenance of the DISTRICT and assist the DISTRICT to ensure compliance with 
all statutes and applicable law affecting the DISTRICT.  The Manager will facilitate contracting 
with a third party website provider and assist the website provider with the maintenance of the 
DISTRICT’s website in compliance with applicable law.  The Manager will also coordinate with 
the website provider to ensure an e-mail system is in place which provides a separate “CDD e-
mail address” for all Board members with an archiving system which will allow the Manager to 
respond to public records requests and maintain e-mails in compliance with applicable records 
retention law. 
 
 
II.    Accounting Services 
 
      The Manager shall define and implement an integrated management reporting system 
which will allow the DISTRICT to represent fairly and with full disclosure the financial position of 
the DISTRICT.  Furthermore, the Manager will adhere to the Prompt Payment Act as it pertains 
to processing invoices of the vendors and contractors providing services to the DISTRICT.  
Monthly financial statements will be provided in addition to a year-end audited financial statement 
to be prepared by a certified public accounting firm selected by the DISTRICT.  These services 
will be coordinated with the DISTRICT’s auditors to assure a smooth and efficient audit of the 
DISTRICT’s books. 
 
III.  Minutes and Records 
 

The Manager shall define and implement a system of record management for the 
DISTRICT, including a concise and accurate record of the official actions of the Board of 

Page 54



Rev. 09.05.23 9 

Supervisors and any appointed boards or committees, and shall oversee the maintenance and 
disclosure of DISTRICT’s records pursuant to Florida law. 

 
 
 

 
IV. Annual Assessments, Lien Book Maintenance and Disclosure 
 
 The Manager will maintain the tax roll for the DISTRICT and coordinate and report to the 
Tax Assessor and Tax Collector for the jurisdiction in which the DISTRICT exists. 
 
 The Manager will administer the DISTRICT’s assessment methodology during platting 
and maintain the DISTRICT’s lien book and release of liens at closings. 
 
 The Manager will provide continuing disclosure filing coordination and assistance for 
DISTRICT debt issues on EMMA as required by the MSRB and other regulatory agencies. 
 
 
 
  

Page 55



Rev. 09.05.23 10 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES 

 
 MANAGER shall be compensated for the provision of the services described in Exhibit A 

based on the fee schedule below.  The fees do include reimbursable expenses (as 
described in Section III.1. herein) related to regularly scheduled DISTRICT Board 
meetings.  Fees will be reviewed and may be adjusted annually as reflected in the 
DISTRICT’s approved budget.   

 
Montecito CDD * Annual Fee 

Management/ Accounting/ Administrative $50,000  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

Debt Issue Services Annual Fee (per series) 
Assessment Administration $3,500  

Disclosure Services $1,500  
  

 
 

Additional Services** Cost of Issuance (per series) 
District Management Services Cost of 

Issuance 
Disclosure Services Cost of Issuance 

$10,000 
 

$1,500  
 
 
 
* Maximum of 12 District public meetings per year and includes travel expenses.  
**Additional Services – District Management Services Cost of Issuance.  This fee is applicable for any bond issue and 
subsequent issue at closing as part of the Cost of Issuance Cost.  This fee is not related to the Operating & Maintenance 
Budget for the District.  
  
The fees outlined above may be increased or otherwise amended annually as reflected in the adopted Budget for the 
District.  New fees will become effective on October 1 of the applicable budget year.   

Page 56



Rev. 09.05.23 11 

EXHIBIT C 
 

INSURANCE 

PFM Group Consulting LLC (“PFM”) acting as MANAGER shall provide and maintain the following 
levels of insurance coverage at all times subsequent to the execution of this Agreement: 
 
PFM Group Consulting LLC (“PFM”) has a complete insurance program, including property, 
casualty, general liability, automobile liability and workers compensation. PFM maintains 
Professional (E&O)/Cyber Liability coverage which total $5 million single loss/ $5 million 
aggregate.  
 
Our Professional Liability policy is a “claims made” policy and our General Liability policy claims 
would be made by occurrence.  
 
Deductibles/SIR:  
Automobile $100 comprehensive & $1,000 collision  
General Liability $0  
Professional (E&O)/ Cyber Liability $250,000  
Crime $50,000  
 
Insurance Company & AM Best Rating  
Professional Liability (E&O)............... AIG Specialty Insurance Company; (A; Stable) 
............................................................Great American Fidelity Insurance Co; (A+: Stable)  
Crime………………………..................Berkley Regional Insurance Company; (A+; Stable)  
Cyber Liability. ...................................AIG Specialty Insurance Company (A; Stable)  
General Liability. ................................The Continental Insurance Company; (A Stable)  
Automobile Liability.............................The Continental Insurance Company; (A Stable)  
Excess /Umbrella Liability...................The Continental Insurance Company; (A Stable)  
Workers Compensation......................The Continental Insurance Company; (A Stable)  
& Employers Liability 

 

Page 57



 
 

 GM-04 
08/2021 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT MONTECITO CDD 
  
 
Informational/Action Items completed: 
 

1. General Admin, Maintenance, and repairs 
a. The following items were addressed/ scheduled/ repaired: 

i. Pedestrian Gate Repairs and proposal meeting completed, waiting on 
proposal from secure fence.    

ii. Pool leak detection- Pool is currently closed due to lack of chemical 
balance in the pool. Leak detection was on site 08/07, possible leak 
found under pavers, company will be back over next several days to 
investigate. They will provide a detailed report, estimates at the 
conclusion of their findings.      

iii. Clubhouse Cameras in need of repairs as well as vehicle gate 
cameras. Waiting for the Estimate.    

iv. Exercise Bike in Gym Repaired.  
v. Received additional Fountain replacement options for new company.   

vi. Completed monthly emergency light check in the clubhouse. 
vii. Painted black lights on outside of clubhouse.        

viii. Touched up paint in clubhouse.  
ix. Plumber on site to repair water fountain in gym- waiting on parts.  
x. Water Meter reading completed and sent to district engineer.   

xi. Plumber on site to repair men’s urinal on pool deck.   
xii. Gym Equipment Deep Cleaned.  

xiii. Weekly landscaping meeting completed.   
 
  
2.  Ticket system –  

a. All tickets responded with copy to BOS.    
3.   Parking Violations – Records. 

a.   Violations are updated weekly, printed, and placed in binder for recording 
purposes.   

4. Pictures of violations are stored in “car violations” folder and stored on drive. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 58



1 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:   District Manager  
 
FROM:  Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A.  

District Counsel  
 
DATE:   July 12, 2024  
 
RE:   2024 Legislative Update  
 
 

As District Counsel, throughout the year we continuously monitor pending legislation that 
may be applicable to the governance and operation of our Community Development District and 
other Special District clients. It is at this time of year that we summarize those legislative acts that 
have become law during the most recent legislative session, as follows: 

 
 
1.  Chapter   2024 – 136,   Laws of Florida (HB 7013).  The legislation establishes a 12-

year term limit for members of popularly elected bodies governing independent special districts, 
excluding terms starting before November 5, 2024, and excluding certain districts. Supervisors of 
Community Development Districts (CDDs) do not have term limits. The act provides that the 
boundaries of independent special districts may only be changed by general law or special act.  The 
law revises criteria for declaring special districts inactive, to include those with no revenue, 
expenditures, or debt for five consecutive fiscal years, and extends the objection period for 
proposed inactive status declarations from 21 to 30 days. The law stipulates that a special district 
deemed inactive can only use funds to service outstanding debt and fulfill existing bond covenants 
and contractual obligations.  Additionally, the law repeals section 163.3756, F.S., to align the 
regulations for Community Redevelopment Agencies (CRAs) with those applicable to other special 
districts.  The bill repeals sections 165.0615 and 190.047, F.S., which allow independent special 
districts and CDDs, respectively, to convert to a municipality without legislative approval. 

 
Performance Measures and Standards 
 
The legislation also mandates special districts to establish goals, objectives, performance 

measures, and standards for each program and activity they undertake by October 1, 2024, or the 
end of their first full fiscal year, and to report annually on their achievements and performance.  
Furthermore, by December 1 of each subsequent year, each district must produce an annual report 
detailing the goals and objectives it has accomplished, the performance measures and standards 
used for evaluation, and any goals or objectives that were not met. The annual report must be 
published on the District’s website. 

 
For independent special fire control districts, the bill requires reporting on volunteer 

firefighter training by October 1 annually.   
 

Page 59



2 
 

The legislation reduces the maximum ad valorem millage rate for mosquito control districts 
from 10 mills to one mill, allowing an increase to two mills via referendum, and requires 
submission of work plans and budgets to receive state funds.  Lastly, the law prohibits the creation 
of new Neighborhood Improvement Districts (NIDs) after July 1, 2024, and mandates a 
performance review of existing NIDs by September 30, 2025.   

 
The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 
 
2.  Chapter   2024 – 80,   Laws of Florida (HB 433).  The legislation prohibits political 

subdivisions from establishing, mandating, or requiring employers, including those contracting 
with political subdivisions, to meet heat exposure requirements not mandated by state or federal 
law.  The law clarifies that it does not limit the authority of political subdivisions to establish heat 
exposure requirements1 for their direct employees.  Effective September 30, 2026, the law amends 
Florida’s wage and employment benefits law, prohibiting political subdivisions from controlling 
or affecting wages or employment benefits provided by vendors, contractors, service providers, or 
other parties through purchasing or contracting procedures.  In addition the law prohibits using 
wages or employment benefits as evaluation factors or awarding preferences based on them.  The 
law removes the ability of local governments to require a minimum wage for certain employees 
under contract terms and states that these revisions do not impair contracts entered into before 
September 30, 2026. Lastly, this act prohibits local governments from adopting or enforcing 
regulations on employee scheduling, including predictive scheduling, by private employers except 
as expressly authorized or required by state or federal law, rule, regulation, or federal grant 
requirements.  Except as otherwise provided, the effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 

 
3.  Chapter   2024 – 204,   Laws of Florida (HB 149).  The legislation raises the maximum 

limit for continuing contracts under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiation Act (CCNA) from 
an estimated per-project construction cost of $4 million to $7.5 million, with an annual adjustment 
based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI).  Starting July 1, 2025, and annually thereafter, the 
Department of Management Services (DMS) is mandated to adjust the maximum allowable amount 
for each project in a continuing contract according to the change in the June-to-June CPI for All 
Urban Consumers, as issued by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. DMS is required to publish the 
adjusted amount on its website.  The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 

 
4.  Chapter   2024 – 202,   Laws of Florida (HB 59).  The legislation amends section 

720.303, F.S., requiring Homeowner Associations (HOAs) to provide a physical or digital copy of 
the HOA’s rules and covenants to all members by October 1, 2024.  This requirement extends to 
all new members upon joining and includes providing updated copies whenever amendments to the 
rules or covenants occur.  HOAs are authorized to set standards for the distribution method and 
timing for these documents.  The law also stipulates that HOAs maintain certain official records, 
such as the HOA’s declaration of covenants and any amendments, within the state for at least seven 
years.  These records must be accessible to parcel owners for inspection or copying, either 
physically or electronically.  The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024 

 
1 A standard to control an employee’s exposure to heat or sun and mitigate its effects. This includes employee monitoring, water 
consumption, cooling measures, acclimation periods, informational notices, heat exposure programs, first-aid measures, protections for 
reporting heat exposure, and related reporting and recordkeeping. 
 

Page 60



3 
 

5.  Chapter   2024 – 221,   Laws of Florida (HB 1203).  The legislation establishes 
educational requirements for community association managers (CAMs) and HOA directors.  By 
January 1, 2025, HOAs with 100 or more parcels must post certain official records on their website 
or application.  It allows parcel owners to request a detailed accounting of any amounts owed to 
the HOA, and if not provided, the board forfeits any outstanding fine under specific conditions. 
The bill prohibits HOAs and their committees from imposing requirements on the interior of 
structures not visible from the frontage, adjacent property, common areas, or golf courses.  The law 
also forbids the need for HOA or committee approval for central air-conditioning, heating, or 
ventilating systems if not visible from the frontage, adjacent property, common area, or golf course, 
and if they are similar to approved systems.  Criminal penalties are introduced for HOA officers, 
directors, or managers accepting kickbacks.  Additionally, HOAs cannot prevent homeowners from 
installing vegetable gardens and clotheslines in non-visible areas, and certain HOA election voting 
activities are classified as a first-degree misdemeanor.  The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 

 
6.  Chapter   2024 – 44,   Laws of Florida (HB 621).  The legislation establishes section 

82.036, F.S., creating a process for removing unauthorized persons (squatters) from residential 
property. Property owners or their authorized agents can file a verified complaint with the county 
sheriff, who, upon verifying the complainant's identity and ownership, must serve notice to the 
occupants to vacate immediately.  The law grants immunity to the sheriff and property owner for 
any property loss or damage unless the removal is wrongful.  It also establishes a civil cause of 
action for wrongful removal, allowing the wrongfully removed party to seek damages, court costs, 
and attorney fees.  The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 

 
7.  Chapter   2024 – 147,   Laws of Florida (SB 7020).  The legislation amends section 

1.01, F.S., the statute defining “registered mail,” to broaden the range of acceptable delivery 
services for meeting statutory registered mail requirements in the state.  The new definition of 
"registered mail" now explicitly includes any delivery service by the U.S. Postal Service or a private 
delivery service that provides proof of mailing or shipping and proof of delivery, confirmed by a 
receipt signed by the addressee or a responsible person at the delivery address.  Additionally, 
"return receipt requested" is defined to encompass delivery confirmation services by the U.S. Postal 
Service or private delivery services that offer similar proof of delivery. These amendments are 
remedial in nature and apply retroactively. The effective date of this act is May 6, 2024. 

 
       8.  Chapter   2024 – 263,   Laws of Florida (HB 321).  This legislation specifies that any 
individual who intentionally releases, organizes the release of, or causes the release of balloons 
inflated with lighter-than-air gas commits an act of littering and is subject to corresponding 
penalties2.  However, children aged six or younger who engage in such activities are exempt from 
noncriminal littering infractions and associated penalties.  The bill removes the exemption for 
balloons deemed biodegradable or photodegradable by Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 
rules. It also eliminates the provision allowing citizens to petition a circuit court to prevent the 
release of ten or more balloons.  Additionally, the bill revises definitions in section 403.413, F.S., 
the Florida Litter Law, to include: 

 
2 The penalty for littering generally corresponds to the amount of litter discarded. ≤ 15 pounds or ≤ 27 cubic feet = Noncriminal infraction, 
punishable by a civil penalty of $150. > 15 pounds but ≤ 500 pounds or > 27 cubic feet but ≤ 100 cubic feet = First-degree misdemeanor, 
punishable by up to one year in jail and a $1,000 fine. > 500 pounds or > 100 cubic feet = Third-degree felony, punishable by up to five 
years’ imprisonment and a $5,000 fine. It is the duty of all law enforcement officers to enforce Florida’s Litter Law.  

Page 61



4 
 

 “Dump,” specifying that it encompasses the intentional release, organization of the release, 
or causation of the release of balloons. 

 “Litter,” explicitly adding balloons to the definition. 
 

The effective date of this act is July 1, 2024. 
 
 
For convenience, we have included copies of the legislation referenced in this 

memorandum.  We request that you include this memorandum as part of the agenda packages for 
upcoming meetings of the governing boards of those special districts in which you serve as the 
District Manager and this firm serves as District Counsel.  For purposes of the agenda package, it 
is not necessary to include the attached legislation, as we can provide copies to anyone requesting 
the same. Copies of the referenced legislation are also accessible by visiting this link:  
http://laws.flrules.org/. 

Page 62



Montecito
Community Development District

   Financial Report For
July 2024

Page 63



Page 64



Field Management Subtotal 

Amenity Center Operations Subtotal

Irrigation Subtotal

Stormwater Control Subtotal

Page 65



EXPENDITURES

Landscaping Subtotal

Commons Areas, Right of Ways & Perimeter Walls Subtotal

Security Monitoring Services Subtotal

Utilities Subtotal

Other Subtotal

Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83


	Montecito Community Development District - August 14, 2024 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	July 10, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	ProGreen
	Consider Ratification of Landscape Proposals
	Public Hearing – Amenity Center Rules
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-08 – Amending the Adopted Rules, Policies, and Fees for the Montecito Amenity Center

	Public Hearing – Final Budget
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-09 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget

	Status of Parcel Conveyance – Final 11 Parcels from Montecito CDD Holdings
	Consider HOA Room Rental Agreement Proposal for HOA’s
	Consider Approval District Management Agreement between the District and PFM Group Consulting LLC
	General Manager’s Report
	Legal Report
	Financials




